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1. Introduction

For many centuries the Ethiopian religious commumitlerusalem had been in possession
of numerous ancient sites in the Holy Land (i.de§tne). In the course of time many of
them were taken over by other Christian religioosnmunities established there. At
present it owns seven monasteries inside and eutdiderusalem, many of which were
built recently. These include: the Deir Sultan @tdFillbppos Monasteryin the Old
City of Jerusalem; Ebri Gannit Kidani-Mohrat (‘'monastery of the Covenant of Mercy')
in West Jerusalem; a monastery in Jericho; the Hohjity Monastery in the River Jordan;
Masali Koddusan Fkla Haymanot Monastery in Betharif @l Azariya’); and the Monastery of
Tabot’lyisus (Ark of Jesus) in Bethlehé®f all the above monasteries, the most ancient and
historically most important is Deir es Sultan. Th@pose of this paper is, therefore, to
show the historical roots to the establishmenthef Ethiopian religious community in
Jerusalem and the founding of this ancient monaster

Deir Sultan is an Arabic name which means literdthonastery of the ruler” or “the
king’s monastery”. In Ge’ez, the monastery is knoas ‘dibri Sdran” a name which
has an equivalent meaning with Arabic. Accordiagtfamous Ethiopian tradition, the
origin of the name is closely associated with th@nner in which the site where the
monastery was built was obtained. It was foundedhe land said to have been granted
by King Solomon of Jerusalem to the Queen of Shalb@ came to visit hirfl.

It is located in Old Jerusalem adjacent to the étaswall of the main Church of the Holy
Sepulchre on the roof of the Chapel of St. Hefeiihe Holy Sepulchre is the place
where the corpse of Jesus Christ is believed te haen buried and from where He rose
from the dead. The site was discovered in the duarter of the fourth century by St.
Helena, mother of Emperor Constantine the Great,aa@hurch was built on it by about
335 A.D. ltis called the Church of the Holy Seghuk or the Church of thénastasias
or Resurrectiofi.Within the Holy Sepulchre is located the CalvaryGolgotha, the site
of Jesgjs Christ’s Crucifixion. It is the place wheddam’s skull is said to have been
buried:

Situated in the north western part of Old Jerusatem Church of the Holy Sepulchre has
during the last two millennia been subject to mdebtruction, reconstruction and repair
under different invaders and rulers of the HolyyCithe present basilica, which was
recently renovated, was built in 1830nlike the first one, it is a very large building
covering the site of Christ's Crucifixion togetheith that of His buriaf’

! The residence of the Ethiopian Archbishop is ledadhere.

’Abba Mattewos,Dibrd Sdtan Bd’iyirusalem: Biyirusalem Yitoyopoya Gidamat Tarik Mstawda
(Jeruslam: n.p., 1996), p. 143; Kirsten Peder3be, Ethiopian Chruch and its community in Jerusalem
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The Armenian Chapel of St. Helena is one of theomaapels in the Church of the Holy
Sepulchre. The roof of this chapel constitute$ pathe area to occupy by the Monastery
of Deir es Sultan. The monastery is surroundedlbfour sides by a wall, the northern
part of which separates it from the large Cdfticonastery of Deir Mar Antunius. The
living quarters of the community, "a row of wretdhlovels”, about twenty in number,
are attached to the wall of the monastery in tret, emuth and west while the refectory
and the kitchen occupy the south eastern partachity and a storeroom are situated in
the western part of the monastery and a small tawgesl building in the northwest. Two
Chapels, that of St. Michael and the four livingatures, are located at different levels in
the south-west corner of the monasteryhere is also another small room adjoining the
eastern wall of the Church of the Holy Sepulchreicwhused to serve as a Chapel
dedicated to Ndhine’alim (“Saviour of the World), the only place of wongHbr the
Ethiopian communitpefore the chapels of St. Michael and the founfvereatures were
recovered in 1970. Currently it serves as a storarg Parts of the monastery compound
date from the period of the Crusad&# the middle of the monastery compound there is
the Dome of the Chapel of St. Helena. Within thenmise of the monastery there is a
very big olive tree and a number of other treechvprotect the monastery from the extremes
of the local climaté?

The monastery compound has three entrances, tviloeai are found in the north and

east while the third is through the Chapels offthe living creatures and St. Michael to

the courtyard of the Church of the Holy SepulchiEhe Copts use the northern gate to
go to their chapel inside the Church of the Holp@ehre passing through the Ethiopian
monastery via the aforementioned chapgls.

In 1991, Deir es Sultan was inhabited by sixtednidptan monk¥ and nuns and a Coptic
monk; this co-habitation led to confusion concegnproprietorship of the monastery.
Consequently, the ownership of the terrain withitallproperty including the Chapels is
contested by the Copts. Since at least the mafdiee nineteenth century, it has remained
the subject of litigation between the two sistetynmunities

° 1n this paper, the word “Coptic’, unless spedifieefers to anything of the Orthodox Christian €hu
established in Egypt by St. Mark the Evangelistor Further explanation see F.L. Cross and E.A.
Livingston, p.416.

M Kirsten Pedersen, ;"Deir es Sultan,” pp. 33; OMeinardus, "The Ethiopians,” iZeitschrift fur
Kirchengeschichtd]l/IV 1965, p. 227.

2 Otto Meinardus, “The Ethiopians,” p.227; dnformant: Abun&Gabrel.

3 Informant: ‘Aburi Gibro’el.
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5 Ibid., p. 33.

16 Otto Meinardus, "The Ethiopians," I/ll, p. 138.

7 Ethiopian Orthodox Church Patriarchate Head Offjoenceforth, EOCPHO) File No.v5-499, Ref.
N0.3966/499/83Mél'aké TaborTeshom Zerihun, head of the EOCPHO External RelatDepartment, to
the Transitional Government of Ethiopia Ministryfagreign Affairs, Addis Ababat/famle17,1983.

18 Kirsten Pedersen, "The Ethiopian,” pp. 29 & 33.
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2. Pilgrimageof Ethiopianstoand their Permanent Egtablishment in Jerusalem

Ancient Ethiopian traditions claim that Ethiopiailggmage to Jerusalem began in the
pre-Christian era (c.1000 B.C.). This is conneactétth the biblical narrative of the visit
of the Queen of Shabaand its elaboration in thisbrid Nigist (Glory of the Kingsy®
The Holy Bible tells us that the Queen of Shabaetonlerusalem to pay a visit to King
Solomon. Upon arrival she presented to the Kimgléinge quantity of precious gifts she
had brought with her. King Solomon reciprocatedybgerously granting her of whatever
she asked for. Then, the queen returned home dpagicepted the worship of Solomon's
God.?! TheKobri Nigist takes the story further by stating that the QuefeBhaba was
an Ethiopian called Makida?®

The above traditional narrative of early Ethiopflgrimage to the Holy Land contains
two historical problems. First, the exact locatafrthe country of origin of the Queen is
not known? No definite archaeological evidence has been foendate, linking the
story of the queen with a specific historical plat&econdly, the term referred to as
“Ethiopia” in the Holy Bible does not corresponddny existing political entity with a
clearly defined territory>

The contemporaries of the writers of the Holy Biblederstood the name “Ethiopia” as
being a country occupying the area South of Egggt“&thiopians” as inhabitants of that
region with darker complexiofi.Nonetheless, it is impossible to rule out the iility of
the existence of, though not an early, contact eetwthe people of the Horn of Africa
and tr;gt of the Holy Land, especially considerimgdgeographical proximity between the two
places.

With the beginning of the Christian era, when Aksemerged as a commercial and
maritime power in the Red Sea region, we see claser continuous contacts being
made. Merchants from the Greco-Roman world (incwthe Holy Land was included)
frequently visited Aksumite trade centres and sarhéhem seem to have even settled
there permanentR?. Aksumite merchants, likewise, undertook long jeysito Greco Roman
trade centres for the same purpdske.seems probable that Christianity, before ificiaf
introduction in the fourth century, was initiallydught into Ethiopia by individual merchants,
both Ethiopian and foreign. Around 330 A.D., thkesAmite King Ezana was converted
into Christianity through the works of two youthdsedesius and Frumentius, sons of a
Syrian merchant shipwrecked on the Red Sea édast.

¥l kings X: 1-10

20 wallis Budge,The Queen of Shaba and Her Only Son Menyd)ekrénslatedfrom the Kobri Nagist
(1922); Sergew Hable Sellasi&ncient and Medieval Ethiopian History to 12@Addis Ababa: United
Printers, 1972), p.37. [Hereinafter, Sergéncient] TheKobri Nigist (was a highly venerated epic edited
in the 14" century.

2L Holy Bible,King James Version.

2 Budge, pp. 15 & 22.

3 ergew, Ancienp. 36.

24 pid., p. 40.

* Ibid., p. 42

% |bid., pp. 45-51.

27 1bid., pp. 39, 84, 100

% |bid., pp.84,100; Taddesse Tamr@hurch and State in Ethiopia 1270-15@Jxford: Clarendon Press,
1972), pp. 22-23.

» sergew, Ancient, p. 72.

30 Sergew Hable Sellassi€he Church of Ethiopia: A Panorama of History ammirfual Life (Addis Ababa:

United Printers, 1970), p.3. [Hereinafter, Serg€he Church]
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The first historical evidence about the presencé&tbfopians in the Holy Land can be
found in the letters of St. Paula and St. Eustaohwritten to their friends in Rome in
386 A.D. Here, the Ethiopians were described @&sadrthe many pilgrims coming daily
to Jerusalem from different parts of the wolldn the first half of the sixth century, we
see the Aksumites controlling both sides of the 8&aland acting as champions of Christianity.
They were capable of commanding a large numberegbels meant for military and
commercial purpose$.This naturally enhanced the opportunity for Etliéoppilgrims to
visit the Holy Sites of Palestine in large numbtéemn before. It seems that some of those
Ethiopians who went to Jerusalem preferred to rerta@re for good and, as a result, laid
the foundation for the permanent establishmennhdEtaiopian Orthodox Christian religious
community in the Holy Land®

An Ethiopian Orthodox Tewhido community seems &éhexisted in Jerusalem at the
time of the Islamic conquest of the Holy Land ir668.D., Caliph Omar ibn al Khattab,
who led the Islamic conquest, issugfiraman’ presumably immediately after the capture of
Jerusalem, mentioning thél&bash as one of the established Christian communitfes o
the Holy City possessing religious sites of thewnoinside and outside Jerusalé&h.
However, with the exception of the abofieeman and the mention of an accidental
meeting between a German bishop, Wallibald of Etth&/86 A.D.), and an Ethiopian in
Galilee® the existence of an organized Ethiopian religiomsmmunity in Jerusalem during
the Byzantine and early Islamic periods is notrye@ported as yet

From the time of the Crusades, information aboatHthiopians in Jerusalem becomes
abundant. This was because European pilgrims bagaome to Jerusalem in large
numbers; and many of them were eager to write aBthibpian Christians with whom
they had not been in contact since the rise ofrisdad the subsequent fall of the Middle
East and North Africa under the control of the Ntuslin the seventh centuf{.Johann
von Wirzburg who visited Jerusalem in 1165 repotted the Ethiopians were present
there keeping their own chap®Iin 1187, Salah ad-Din (or Saladin), who took cohaf
Jerusalem and who restored Muslim rule over thg treported to have liberated the
Greeks, Georgians, Copts and Ethiopians who usednte to Jerusalem from their taxation
obligations. In addition, he granted to the Etl@op two rooms below the Catechumen: i.e.,
the Chapel of St. Mary of Golgotha, and an alt@athlehem in the Church of the Nativity.

In the thirteenth century, Ethiopians also resigiederusalem. The controversial appointment
of a certain Ethiopian monk by the namdbaThomas as bishop of Ethiopia in 1238 by
Ignatius Il, the then Patriarch of Antioch, is eatl indication of the presence of Ethiopians
in Jerusalem. Patriarch Ignatius took the actalloWing a dispute with the Patriarch of
Alexandria, Abba Kirillus 111 (1235-1245), over theppointment of an archbishop for
Jerusalem. The appointment of an archbishop fomitaphysite Christians of Jerusalem
had been the prerogative of the Patriarch of Ahticince the Council of Chalcedon of
451. But, in 1238, Kirillus Il assigned a Copbéshop for the Holy City violating the
already established custom.

31 Cited in Enrico CerulliEtiopi in Palestina\Vol. I, Roma. 1943, pp.1-2.

32 SergewAncient,pp. 124, 126-135.

3 pederseriThe Ethiopianp. 24.

34 AbbaPhilippos,The Rights of the Abyssinian Church in the HolycBsa Documentary Authorities. Vol. |1
(Asmara: Kokab&obah Printing Press,1960), p. 4.[HereinaltdsbaFillopppos,Documentary Authoritiep

% Cited in PedersefThe Ethiopianp. 24.

%6 Ibid., p.25.

7 |bid., p.26.

38 Cited in Otto Meinardus, "The Ethiopians," I/IL, 7.

% Cerulli, pp.3, 132.
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Then, Ignatius retaliated by consecrafidgbaTomas, an Ethiopian monk living in Jerusalem,
as bishop of Ethiopia, a right maintained by the skSt. Mark since the fourth century.
The dispute was, however, solved with the intereenof the Latins and th8tatus quo
antewas maintained’ In 1283, Burchard of Mourfioon included the Ethiopians in his
list of the Christians living in Jerusaléeth.

With the beginning of what is called in EthiopiaH& Solomonic Period”, Ethiopian
sources also assume importance on the conditioBshadpians in Jerusalem. The letter
of King Yagh»'a Soyon (1285-1294) sent to the community, in1290, titutes such one
source. The letter clearly tells us of the presdan Jerusalem of an Ethiopian community
which withstood the inconveniences of living inastile climatic environmerft

In 1323, two Franciscans from Ireland, Fra Simath Bra Hugo, reported that they participated
in an Ethiopian religious ceremony in Jerusalemil347, Niccolo da Poggibonsi withessed
that the Ethiopians possessed two chapels - tHait dflary of Golgotha and St. Mikael - in
the Church of the Holy SepulctfeJohann von Bodmann, who was in Jerusalem in 1386,
observed that Ethiopians were among the represaggadf various Christian religious
communities who maintained the main Church of tldytSepulchre. He further noted
that at that time the Muslims closely watched th&eg of the Church admitting no one
except in case of the death of a representativeeelllecades and a half later, an
anonymous pilgrim of Loos (1419) repeated the satogy that the Church was closed
throughout the year except on the arrival of pitgri Only six priests, one from each of
the communities of the Greeks, Georgians, Latimméekians, Jacobities, and Ethiopians,
were allowed to reside inside. Another pilgrimiféiabri (1484) strengthens the above
story by saying that it was only on two occasiahst is, “from Good Friday to Easter
Monday and from the vigil of the Feast of the Inem of the Cross until the Vespers
following,” that the Church was opened for all Gtigns**

During those years when the Christians of Jerusaleme closely supervised by the
Muslims, the Ethiopians enjoyed certain privilegiesvhich others were not entitled. In
addition to the exemption from taxation which waarged to them together with the
other Christian communities, the Sultan alloweditite move freely in the Holy Land
with symbols of their Christian identity, such ke Cross, uncovered. Most contemporary
writers associated the enjoyment of these privdmgethe Ethiopians with the importance
to Egypt of the Nile River that originates mainipr the Ethiopian highlands. The
Muslim rulers feared that jeopardising the intesaxtthe rulers of Ethiopia with regard
to the Ethiopians in the Holy Land, might be takesnan excuse to divert the flow of the
Nile River from its coursé&

Between the fourteenth and sixteenth centuriesEthmpians were fortunate with respect
to the possession of holy sites. In addition toGrapels of St. Mary of Golgotha and St.
Michael in the Church of the Holy Sepulchre andaliar in Bethlehem, in the Church of
the Nativity mentioned above, they owned the ataSt. Joseph in the Church of the
Sepulchre of the Blessed Virgin Mary at Gethsemame the Chapel of the Opprobrium inside
the Church of the Holy Sepulcht?.

“Meinardus, “The Ethiopians, "l/ll, 1965, p. 113de@esen, "Deir es Sultan," p. 35
“ICited in Cerulli, pp. 80-81.

42 Ibid., pp.88-90; Meinardus “The Ethiopians,” I/ll, p, 118; Pedersen, The Ethiopian, p. 26
43 Cited in Pedersen, “The Ethiopians,” p. 26.

44 Cited in Meinardus, “The Ethiopians,” I/ll, p. 119

“ |bid., p. 120.

| bid,, pp. 121-122.
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Sebald Rieter Jr. (1479) said that a monastery oari¥l near the Cave of David was also
in their hand4/ Generally speaking, during the period mentionedvebthe Ethiopian
religious community in Jerusalem was a prosperodspaestigious community possessing a
number of holy sites inside and outside of Jernsaad enjoying certain privileges beyond
those of the other religious communities estabtishelerusalem.

This relaxed position of the community seems toehaantinued until the first half of the
sixteenth century. The firemen of Ottomans Sultessied in the sixteenth century
concerning the Holy Places also give us a cleacrig#i®n of the condition of the
Ethiopians at the time. The first one of thesaf tf Sultan Selim | (r.1512-1520) made
on Safar 25, 923 (1517 A.D.), gives a detailed detion of the Ethiopian properties in
Jerusalem and confirms the rights and privileges the community used to enjoy till
that time. It mentions among other things that Etkiopians possessed four chapels
inside the Church of the Holy Sepulchre as welthesDeir es Sultan and that they had
been undertaking repairs in one of their chapelleiusalem since 1500 A%,

The importance of this firemen lies in that it ghas a basis for later firemen of the Ottoman
Sultans, especially for those of Sultan Suleima@ khagnificent (r.1520-1566) and
Sultan Ahmad (r.1603-1617) who simply repeated whas said by Sultan Seliffi.
Though there are people who doubt the authentifityhis firemen of Sultan Seliff,
Western pilgrims who visited the Holy Land in th&teenth and seventeenth centuries
confirm the authenticity of the facts describedhe firemen of Sultan Selim and those of
his successors. Graffin Affagart, who was irugalem in 1533-34, saw the Ethiopians
in Jerusalem still enjoying the freedom of enterthg Church of the Holy Sepulchre
without paying tax. Giovanni Francesco Alcaroftb87), Aquilante Rocchetta (1599),
Francesco Manerba (1604), Pietro della Valle (16@pvanni Paolo Pesenti (1612),
Antonio de Castillo (1626), and Bernard Surius @)64ll noted that the head of the
Ethiopian religious community in Jerusalem was agn¢imose religious leaders who
played a leading role in the celebration of theyHeite on the Eve of Easter.

The reason for the better position that the Etl@inpieligious community in Jerusalem
had particularly during the Mamluk periSdvas closely related with the protection and
support it received from contemporary Ethiopian Enaps. For the Christian Kingdom

of Ethiopia the period was a time of relative peand prosperity. The rulers were pious
Christian Emperors who considered themselves asndefs of the Christian Church.

They made it their duty to assist financially amdtpct diplomatically the interests of the
Ethiopian community in the Holy Lartd.

7 Cited in Pedersen, The Ethiopian, p. 26

“8 |bid., p.124;’Abba Filbpppos, Documentary Authorities Baron Boris NoldeConsultations Concerning
the Right of the Abyssinian Religious Communitiatestine.(1925). Translated from the Original French
by Dr. Kirsten Stoffregen Pedersen, June 1979, p. 1

“9Nolde, p. 1.

%0 pederserDibri Seltan-Juridicap. 1.

51 Meinardus, "The Ethiopians,” l/ll, p. 124.

2The Mamluks ruled Jerusalem from their base in Egggginning from 1291 to 1517 Ife Middle East: A
Political and Economic Survefaecond edition (1950; rpt. London: Royal Institafenternational Affairs,
1957), pp. 8-9.

%3 Cited in Pedersefhe Ethiopian, pp.26-27.
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3. Decline of the Ethiopian Community and the Loss of itsHoly Sites

It is a fact, however, that since the second hiathe sixteenth century the condition of
the Ethiopian community in Jerusalem showed contisusigns of deterioration. This
was because of two factors. The first one wagliamge in the domestic political situation
of Ethiopia. In the second half of the 1520s, tharadic skirmishes which characterised the
relations between the Christian Kingdom and the IMugrincipalities of the south and
the south east of Ethiopia in the late fifteentld @arly sixteenth centuriésdeveloped
into an all out war between the forces of the GianisKingdom led by bbni Dangsl and
that of the Muslims led by Ahmad Ibn Ibrahim (Graghmad’). The confrontation
reached a turning point in 1529 when the Chrisfaices were overwhelmed by the
Muslims> Then followed the military occupation of almost piovinces of Christian
Ethiopia by the Muslims, until 1543, when they welefeated and driven back by the
Christian forces supported by Portuguese soldiersthe meantime, the pastoralist
Oromo people were pushing northward into the cémravinces of the Christian
kingdom from their bases in the SodtThe rulers of Christian Ethiopia were, therefore,
faced with these serious problems of reconstructiod consolidation of their power
within the Christian kingdom, on the one hand, #redefence of the southern and south
-eastern provinces from the invasion of the Oromnud the disturbances of the Muslims
on the othef! Besides, in the second half of the sixteenth egnthe Red Sea coastal
areas of Ethiopia were repeatedly attacked by timksTwho were trying to expand in
that direction. So, during the remaining yearshef tentury, Ethiopia had to defend itself
from these Turkish attacks.

The implication of these developments in Ethiop&swhat Ethiopian rulers who used to
sympathetically support and protect the Ethiop&igious community in Jerusalem were
no longer in a position to devote their money antktfor the benefit of the latt&tin
addition, the safety of the land route to Jerusalexs threatened. Pilgrims were attacked
in the deserts of Nubia, the majority of them bekiltpd and looted. For instance, it is
reported that, in 1520, out of the 336 Ethiopialgrmrns who set out their journey for
Jerusalem only 15 managed to reach their destmatthi@ rest being annihilated by the
Bedouins around Suakin. These attacks led to a deanp halt of the Ethiopian
pilgrimage to Jerusaleffi.

The second most important reason for the deteigoralf the condition of the Ethiopians
in Jerusalem was the establishment of Turkishoués Jerusalem in 1517. With respect
to their relations with the Christian communitiédsJerusalem, the Ottoman Turks were
more demanding in economic terms than their Mangtddecessors. The Ethiopians,
whose economic status was already weakened asulh oéshe lack of support from
Ethiopian Christian rulers, could not afford to petyat was required from them by the Tuftks.

% Taddesse, pp. 294-296; Mordechai ABihiopia and the Red S@aondon: Frank Cass, 1980), pp. 69, 79, 82
55 Abir, pp. 87-90, 92, 124-129.

%6 Ibid., pp. 86, 125, 133-134.

57 |pid., pp.127, 133, 137.

% |id., pp. 124-127.

% pederseriThe Ethiopianp. 27.

60 Meinadus, “The Ethiopians,” I/ll, p.122.

®1 pederseriThe Ethiopianp. 27.
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These two factors, manifested in the form of annecaically weakened and morally
depressed Ethiopian community, resulted in theilitlof the latter to take care of its
interests in the Holy Land. In 1604, Francesco &fha reported that during his term of
service as guardian of the Holy Land only two Epiems remained in Jerusalem. A
year later, Henry de Beauvau described the Chap@boaham as being kept by an
Ethiopian woman only. In 1625, the pilgrim Yves dile wrote that the Ethiopian
monastery in Jerusalem was completely desertedhatdbnly a priest was responsible
for the protection of Ethiopian properties thé&re.

The fact that Ethiopians were physically absenimfreome of their former sites in the
Holy Sepulchre aroused the envy of the other nuwrabyi larger and economically
wealthier communities, particularly the Armeniansdathe Greek&In addition, as
indicated earlier, the Ethiopians were unable tg e taxes expected of them by the
Ottoman rulers of JerusaleéthTherefore, the seventeenth and eighteenth cesturee
characterized by fierce competitions between theeksand Armenian religious communities
over the right of “protection” of Ethiopian propies in Jerusalent® By the middle of the
seventeenth century, the Armenians had succesgaliin control of almost all of the
Ethiopian properties in Jerusalem. The Ethiopiaeseveven driven out of their possessions
inside the Church of the Holy Sepulchre and wereefi to limit themselves to their convent
of Deir es Sultan. Even here in Deir es Sultapjrtetatus was not good. Francesco
Verniero (1631-1647), the Franciscan guardian efbly Land, wrote the following:

There are a few of them [the Ethiopians] in Jerrsah such an extreme degree of need that
they go around almost naked and although they #e kame property which renders them
something, the bishop of the Armenians in whose d¢hey are confided, demands the
income thereof, giving them something accordingpitbown temper. They own a place in
front of the square of the Temple of the Holy Septé, where there are a few narrow, low
and dark rooms, and they sleep on the bare grfund.

In 1655, it is reported that the Greeks seemedatee lwon the litigation at a Turkish
court and that the Armenians were forced to haret éw them all Ethiopian properties
which were in their possession. From the procebalesf 1655 we see that the Ethiopian
properties transferred to the Greeks from the Aimren included: the Chapel of
Abraham, the Chapel of the Opprobrium, the Chafpehe Prison of Jesus, the Deir
es Sultan, and the Ethiopian Chapel in the Rotdhda.

In the nineteenth century we find the Armeniansnggtonce again, as superiors of the
Ethiopians. James Finn, the British Consul in Salem in the 1850s and early 1860s, in
his letter to the Foreign Office of December 9,d.8&rote "that the Copts and the Abyssinians
together with the Syrians and Armenians subsienhim ecclesiastical intercommunion - the
Armenian convent being the wealthy and powerfutqrabf the other three’®
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Coming back to the situation of the Ethiopiansaérudalem, there were still Ethiopians in
Jerusalem in the eighteenth century. The obsenstf A. Morison (1704), Charles de

St. Maure (1721), and Johann Martini (1760) atteghis fact. By the beginning of the

nineteenth century, the Ethiopians still inhabifeel Deir es Sultan. In 1806, Ulrich Seetzen
saw about ten Ethiopian monks and three nuns litlrege, together with a number of

Coptic priests. Augustin Scholz testifies that,1820, he had seen Ethiopian monks
residing in the convent behind the Church of théyF8epulchre with a large number of

Ethiopian manuscripts in their possession. Willidowett (1823-1824) also wrote that
he visited the monastery and that there were hy abeut 20 Ethiopians living in Deir es

Sultan. He further narrates that the Ethiopiars &dibrary from which he bought the

Ethiopian New Testament in two manuscript volufifes.

Nevertheless, the living condition of the Ethiopiemmmunity has not been improved.
They were still living on the daily provision ofimited number of meals by the Armenidfs.
This practice of the Armenians did not come outloérity or sympathy towards their
co religionists. But, as Francesco Verniero riglstmmented more than a century and a
half age, it was rooted in the fact that they haideh possession of the properties of the
Ethiopians which could have generated sufficienbime for the upkeep of the Ethiopian
community’* Even this precarious living condition of the Ethians could arouse the
jealousy of the small community of the Copts inudaiem. The Copts began to claim
the two chapels of the Deir es Sultan, that oMithael and of the four living creatures,
which led to the Church of the Holy Sepulchre inihg the whole of the Ethiopian
monastery of Deir es Sultdh.As a result, the history of the relations betwéke
Ethiopians and the Copts in Jerusalem, during thet@enth and twentieth centuries, has
been one of hostility and litigation over possessid the keys to the chapels and the
monastery.
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4. Conclusion

The monastery of Deir es Sultan is the only religisite in the Christian holy places of
Jerusalem owned by a black religious community. ddramunity had witnessed periods
of highs and lows in its past. As it had no anyeotmeans of generating income, the
community depended solely on the support from membgthe ruling family (including
the emperors and empresses) in Ethiopia for iteeypkThe latter provided the community
with whatever was necessary in the form of matenial diplomatic support. So, at some
point, especially between the fourteenth and sitteeenturies, the community was
among the most prosperous religious communitiethenHoly Land enjoying certain
privileges to which others were not entitled.

This condition took a different feature with theaclge in the domestic political situation
of Ethiopia and the shift in the balance of poweithe Middle East. Since the second
quarter of the sixteenth century, Ethiopia was $tage of civil war and political instability;

thus impeding the ruling family from according thesual support to the community.
Another development that adversely affected thelitimm of the Ethiopians in Jerusalem
had to do with the control of Jerusalem by the §urkl517. The Ottoman Turks were
more demanding in economic terms than their presdecs, the Mamluks. The cumulative
effect of all this was that membership of the comityuwas reduced to a few people and
it became economically weak to sustain itself amdeet its vast holy sites in the holy land.

By the middle of the nineteenth century, the comityunas limited to control of just two

chapels and a monastery in Jerusalem. In the substedwo centuries, the Ethiopian
religious community in Jerusalem was locked in atnaicted litigation with the Copts
and other religious communities over the preseowatif its remaining holy sites in the
holy land.
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